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ABOUT  THE  COVER
As Southeast Asian countries unite into one single region, CARD 
Mutually Reinforcing Institutions (CARD MRI) continues to synergize 
to bring socioeconomically challenged women, their families and their 
community a holistic approach to development. Rizal Bank, Inc. is a 
microfinance-oriented rural bank, which aims to serve the socially-and-
economically challenged families.

Each client in the covers of the annual reports represent an institution, 
completing a  bigger picture. The blue, red, and yellow waves merges 
and unifies the institution, signifying how the economic integration 
made our institutions stronger and united as a group.

Carmelita Aguilar is the 2015 Pagkilala sa Mga Likha Ni Inay Grand 
Winner. She was a worker with 12-peso hourly rate who turned into a 
paper mache business owner who exports to USA. She is now reaping 
her success with 100,000 to 200,000-peso average sales per week. She 
is one of Rizal Bank, Inc.’s more than 95,000 clients who is now ready to 
grab the opportunities and face the challenges of the ASEAN Economic 
Integration.
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viSION

mission

CARD MRI is a world-class leader in 
microfinance and community-based social 
development undertakings that improves the 
quality of life of socially-and-economically 
challenged women and families towards 
nation building.

CARD MRI is committed to:

> Empower socially-and-economically challenged 
women and families through continuous access to 
financial, microinsurance, educational, livelihood, 
health and other capacity-building services that 
eventually transform them into responsible citizens 
for their community and the environment;
>  Enable the women members to gain control and 
ownership of financial and social development 
institutions; and
> Partner with appropriate agencies, private 
institutions, and people and community 
organizations to facilitate achievement of mutual 
goals.
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With the introduction of the ASEAN Integration, many have 
asked, “where does Rizal Bank, Inc. stand?”  Change really 
is dynamic and so are we. We stand on a rock founded 
on good trainings, governance, compliance, and purpose. 
But this foundation does not stop us from striving to be 
better and stronger in order to live our purpose. We are 
setting our gears up for a big change to make our services 
more suitable and useful to our members. We take this as 
an opportunity for growth and expansion. 

While RBI is still an emerging rural bank under CARD MRI, 
we have already taken a great leap. We have done this 
not only through our own efforts, but also with the help 
of other institutions under CARD MRI like CARD Bank and 
CARD SME Bank. Since they have already paved the way 
before us, we have learned the best practices in banking 
from them. This has set the foundation of RBI as a strong 
microfinance-oriented bank that offers different services 
to uplift its members’ quality of living.

GEARING UP
With the current state of the market competition in 
banking, we are driven to become a stronger and more 
pliant institution. The ASEAN Economic Integration has 
driven us to become stronger and be a more proactive 
institution.

While we understand that the integration would mean 
having stiffer competition, we are more focused on 
delivering better services to our clients. After all, the very 
core of our existence is to live our purpose in uplifting the 
lives of the socioeconomically challenged. We carefully 
strategized so that we can increase the number of clients 
we serve. By expanding our reach, we project having a 
bigger amount of portfolio, thus implying that we have 
catered to the financial needs of more clients.

Working with microfinance clients entails designing 

products and services that are tailored fit to their needs. We 
introduced the Kabuhayan Loan Program that supports the 
different livelihood activities of our clients this year. While our 
loans provide an additional capital for our clients, we also want 
to teach them that saving is also important so that they can 
better prepare for what’s ahead. We have also started selling 
preferred shares to our clients enabling them to become part-
owners of our bank.

As we cater mostly to the urban areas, we are also looking forward 
to the feasibility of using ATM machines so that our clients can 
easily make transactions and also offering a remittance program.  
We also plan to make our transactions faster and more efficient 
for our clients by rolling out our queuing system nationwide. 

TAKING THE EXTRA MILE
We are going places and it was a smooth sail for our institution. 
We were able to execute our targets based on our five-year 

Turn to page 8

RBI Malolos Branch Opening, ribbon cutting by Ms. Pascuala
 Geñoso, Mr. Faustino Buenaventura and Dr. Jaime Aristotle Alip

TAKING
THE LEAP

FLORDELIZA L. SARMIENTO
President and CEO
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Hoping for a better life, my husband and I chose to work in 
Cavite. He was a construction worker while I manage our 
small store. As our family grow, so as our expenses. He then 
decided to work abroad while I went back to Pakil, Laguna 
to send our daughters to school. While taking care of our 
daughters, I also ventured into animal husbandry to help 
pay for needs of our family.

I also took a job in a paper mache business for a per hour 
rate of 12 pesos. My big break in this business started to 
unfold when the owner promoted me as business manager. 
This is how I learned the ins and outs of the paper mache 
business. It also introduced me to new networks. With all 
this experiences, I was able to convince my husband to go 
back home and start our own paper mache business.

TAKING THE COURAGE
With skills and determination, we decided to open our new 
business. But a business cannot operate with no capital. 
This made me decide to join CARD.  I invested my initial 
P5,000 loan to the business. As the business easily grew, we 
needed more funds. It was perfect timing that CARD was 
offering a new product, which is the Small Business Loan 
(SBL). Availing SBL gave me the additional funds I needed 
for the business. In December 2014, I was transitioned from 
CARD, Inc. to Rizal Bank, Inc (RBI).

With the growing demand for our product and the influx of 
capital from RBI, we grew exponentially to 130 employees 
during peak season and more than 60 people during 
regular season in just six years of being in the paper mache 
industry. With our exceptional technique in production, our 
products are now of export quality and reach one of the 
most developed countries in the world, the United States 

of America. We produce items resulting to one to two loads of 
jeepney amounting to 100,000 pesos (gross) per jeepney on the 
average per week. During peak season, it can go up to three loads 
of jeepney.

THE ASEAN INTEGRATION
I can see opportunities with the arrival of the ASEAN integration, 
especially to us who are in the export industry. With lower taxes 
from our exporter, the higher prices they can give to our products, 
thus higher income for us and our workers. We can also have the 
opportunity to export our products to our neighboring countries, 
especially to the ASEAN nation. In terms of competition, I don’t 
see harmful effects on industries like ours, at least in my business. I 
am very confident with the quality of our products; they are really 
world-class. With our current production load, I am confident that 
we can provide more to cater to other clients. We take pressure as 
a challenge and room for growth and expansion. More clients will 
create more jobs and income to the people of Pakil and hopefully 
uplift the quality of life of the workers.

COMPASSIONATE HEARTS
As workers years back, even before we went to Cavite, we 
understand that the income of our workers is not enough so we 
help them as much as we could by giving the maximum salary that 
our business can cover. 

We treat them the same way RBI treats us, as members and as 
family. We are always being compassionate to them that whenever 
we feel they need money, we give them cash advances. Sometimes 
if we see that their income for the day is way smaller than the usual, 
we give them rice or whatever we can give to at least help them 
cope up with daily expenses. We also help during emergencies by 
giving money or taking them to the hospital with our own vehicle.
Turn to page 8

PAGES OF SUCCESS
CARMELITA  AGUILAR
Rizal Bank, Inc. member
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TAKING THE LEAP
From Page 6
development plan. Our clients’ numbers jumped from 55,366 
in 2014 to 86,914 in 2015. We have also opened three branches 
in 2015, including our branch in Taguig which is a milestone 
for us because the requirements for NCR are higher than other 
areas in the country. As we opened more branches, we were 
also able to generate employment for more staff. We have also 
focused on stronger compliance to build a stronger foundation 
of the whole institution.
 
We have also invested in our human resources through 
various trainings and education. This year, three of our Area 
Managers (Oliver Quinay, Frederick Arellano and Joseph 
Verano) graduated from the Master of Productivity and Quality 

PAGES OF SUCCESS
From page 7
Once a year, we hold summer and thanksgiving parties to enrich 
the bond and joy with them. We want to impart to them that we 
will help them without asking anything in return because that’s 
how RBI treated us. 

During center meetings, RBI give us Credit with Education on 
relevant topics like financial literacy and health. I take them 
seriously and I am really grateful because they are applicable in 
my daily life. We built a simple center hall for our center here in 
Pakil to give back to the support RBI has given us.

RBI has thought us to dream bigger to help more families in our 
community. We are continuously striving to expand and have 
bigger operations to help people who are now dependent on our 
business. The livelihood we are giving to the people is a blessing 
to us because we feel that we are part of their success. 

Kabuhayan Unit (Taytay Branch) with UM 
Mark Bennedict Ang

Graduation from Harvard Business School

Management at the Development Academy of the Philippines. 
To be able to lead RBI as a President and CEO, I also graduated 
from the Advanced Management Program of Harvard Business 
School.

Finally, we have recognized the invaluable efforts of our clients 
to change their lives through the Pagkilala sa mga Likha ni 
Inay. Our winner, Ms. Carmelita Aguilar from SKD-2 Center 
from Siniloan, Laguna, is the epitome of every RBI member 
who works hand-in-hand with us in achieving our goals of 
poverty eradication. She showed exemplary dedication to 
expand her paper mache business and provide employment 
to her constituents. They remain the constant source of our 
inspiration, enabling us to take the extra mile in every step we 
take.

Christine Landayan
Rizal Bank, Inc. member, Lumban, Laguna

RBI gave flexibility to our business. Barong business requires 
big capital and they helped and is continuously helping us 
to sustain the financial needs of the business. Because of the 
support of RBI, we were able to make investments and were 
able to purchase lots, house, and vehicles. They also helped 
us in creating networks through different business fairs like Go 
Negosyo so we can extend our products to different places in the 
country and even internationally.

Ms. Carmelita’s factory in Pakil, Laguna
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OUR
management   COMMITTEE

Flordeliza L. Sarmiento
Chairman

Dr. Jaime Aristotle B. Alip
Board Member

Dr. Dolores M. Torres
Board Member

Pascuala S. Geñoso
Board Member

Benito R. Pagaspas
Corporate Secretary

Elma B. Valenzuela
Board Member

Jocelyn T. Arguelles
Board Member

Faustino M. Buenaventura
Board Member

Atty. Edgardo R. Marilim
Legal Counsel

OUR
BOARD  MEMBERS

Washington Z. Sycip
Adviser
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OUR
management   COMMITTEE

Glenda H. Atabay
Vice President

Marlyn M. Marudo
Assistant Vice President for Operations

Ma.Adoracion M. Ola
Regional Director

Pedro L. Maniebo
Regional Director-OIC

Christopher B. Dela Cruz
Deputy Director for Compliance (OIC)

Analiza D. De Lumban
Deputy Director for Finance (OIC)

Myrna M. Guevarra
Personnel Manager

Ronelio A. Estoya
IT Head - OIC

Frederick M. Arellano
Area Manager  - Sta. Cruz 1

Rebecca R. Fortez
Area Manager – Sta. Cruz 2

Oliver G. Quinay
Area Manager – Tanay

Nenia I. Peralta
Area Manager – Taytay 1

Flordeliza L. Sarmiento
President/CEO

Florante Andaya
Area Manager – Kabuhayan Unit

Medelyn K. Alimagno
Area Manager  - Taguig

Everly Sumiran 
Area Manager – San Fernando 1

Robert F. Urgino
Area Manager-OIC– San Fernando 2

Lorilyn C. Calucin
Area Manager- OIC – Angeles

Joseph G. Verano
Area Manager – Malolos
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Rizal Bank, Inc. Head Office
P. Guevarra St., Corner Aguirre St., Brgy. Poblacion II,

Sta. Cruz, Laguna
Telefax: (049) 523-1047

Email: rrb@cardbankph.com

directory

Sta. Cruz, Laguna 

STC Area 1
Sta. Cruz

Pagsanjan 
Magdalena
Majayjay
Cavinti

STC Area 2
Paete

Siniloan
Famy

Sta. Maria
Mabitac

Taytay, Rizal

Taytay Area 1
Taytay 1
Taytay 2
Taytay 3
Angono 

Binangonan

Taytay Area 2
Antipolo 1
Antipolo 2
San Mateo
Montalban

Cainta

Malolos City, Bulacan

Malolos

Tanay, Rizal

Tanay
Pilillia

Binangonan 2
Morong
Jalajala

San Fernando City, Pampanga

San Fernando Area 1
San Fernando

Sto. Tomas 
Guagua
Lubao

San Fernando Area 2
Mexico 
Arayat

Calumpit
Macabebe
San Simon

Angeles City, Pampanga

Angeles 1
Angeles 2
Mabalacat 
Magalang

Taguig City

Taguig 1
Taguig 2
Taguig 3
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our partners

Bank of the Philippine Islands (BPI)
Land Bank of the Philippines (LBP)

Metropolitan Bank and Trust Company (Metrobank)
Banco De Oro (BDO)

PhilHealth
Social Security System
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AUDITED   FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31
2015 2014

ASSETS
Cash and other cash items P=2,614,949 P=1,973,592
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (Notes 6) 20,674,211 11,071,066
Due from other banks (Notes 6 and 21) 169,717,670 85,021,956
Loans and receivables (Note 7) 806,294,187 484,459,528
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 8) 2,000,924 2,006,130
Property and equipment (Note 9) 54,418,602 31,340,153
Investment property (Note 10) − 490,160
Deferred tax assets (Note 20) 5,767,580 1,947,578
Retirement asset (Note 17) 6,902,974 3,386,708
Other assets (Note 11) 10,893,982 8,213,960

P=1,079,285,079 P=629,910,831

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Deposit liabilities (Notes 12 and 21)

Regular savings P=322,124,579 P=188,496,441
Special savings 208,863,014 118,853,798

530,987,593 307,350,239
Bills payable (Note 13) 291,730,252 175,000,000
Income tax payable 13,812,525 6,501,183
Deposits for future stock subscription (Note 15) − 47,500,000
Other liabilities (Note 13) 14,392,376 11,674,914

850,922,746 548,026,336

Equity
Capital stock (Note 15)

Common stock 123,202,800 49,000,000
Preferred stock 9,827,600 −

Retained earnings 95,703,594 28,962,035
Remeasurement gains (losses) on retirement plan (371,661) 3,922,460

228,362,333 81,884,495
P=1,079,285,079 P=629,910,831

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

INTEREST INCOME
Loans and receivables (Note 7) P=308,464,877 P=147,399,372
Due from other banks (Note 6) 1,846,011 524,218
Held-to-maturity investments (Note 8) 114,793 114,980

310,425,681 148,038,570

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposit liabilities (Notes 12 and 21) 15,772,013 8,996,089
Bills payable (Note 13) 6,313,948 638,972

22,085,961 9,635,061

NET INTEREST INCOME 288,339,720 138,403,509
Miscellaneous 139,511 115,067
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 288,479,231 138,518,576

OPERATING EXPENSES
Compensation and benefits (Notes 16 and 21) 65,473,347 43,029,699
Taxes and licenses (Note 20) 17,892,204 9,453,148
Transportation and travel (Note 18) 11,314,082 5,972,885
Provision for credit losses (Note 7) 10,740,563 4,671,862
Stationeries and supplies 6,904,884 4,127,006
Rent (Note 18) 7,720,246 3,366,922
Training and development 6,152,903 3,328,063
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 9 and 11) 6,091,272 2,743,854
Security, messengerial, janitorial services 4,895,899 2,491,622
Fuel and lubricants 4,598,022 2,780,645
Information technology (Note 18) 3,254,724 1,904,804
Power, light and water 2,097,893 1,150,196
Seminars and meetings 1,818,008 543,043
Insurance 1,633,009 1,823,056
Professional fees 1,057,440 385,605
Miscellaneous (Note 19) 4,365,203 2,708,411

156,009,699 90,480,821

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 132,469,532 48,037,755

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 20) 39,727,973 15,268,769

NET INCOME P=92,741,559 P=32,768,986

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

NET INCOME P=92,741,559 P=32,768,986

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Other comprehensive income (loss) not recycled to profit or loss

in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement gains (losses) on retirement plan (Note 17) (6,134,459) 13,445,742
Income tax effect (Note 20) 1,840,338 (4,033,722)

(4,294,121) 9,412,020

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=88,447,438 P=42,181,006

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Capital Stock
(Note 15)

Preferred Stock
(Note 15)

Retained
Earnings

(Deficit)

Remeasurement
Gains (Losses) on
Retirement Plan

(Note 17) Total

Balances at January 1, 2015 P=49,000,000 P=– P=28,962,035 P=3,922,460 P=81,884,495
Issuance of shares 74,202,800 9,827,600 – – 84,030,400
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 92,741,559 (4,294,121) 88,447,438
Declaration of dividends – – (26,000,000) (26,000,000)

Balances at December 31, 2015 P=123,202,800 P=9,827,600 P=95,703,594 (P=371,661) P=228,362,333

Balances at January 1, 2014 P=17,500,000 P=– (P=3,806,951) (P=5,489,560) P=8,203,489
Issuance of shares 31,500,000 – – – 31,500,000
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 32,768,986 9,412,020 42,181,006

Balances at December 31, 2014 P=49,000,000 P=– P=28,962,035 P=3,922,460 P=81,884,495

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=132,469,532 P=48,037,755
Adjustments for:

Provision for credit and impairment losses (Notes 7 and 11) 10,740,563 4,671,862
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 9 and 11) 6,091,272 2,743,854
Retirement expense (Note 17) 2,349,275 4,071,087
Loss on retirement of property and equipment (Note 9) 177,781 –
Loss on sale of investment property (Notes 10 and 19) 90,160 –
Amortization of held-to-maturity investments (Note 8) 5,206 5,021

Operating income before changes in operating assets
and liabilities: 151,923,789 59,529,579
Increase in:

Loans and receivables (332,575,222) (318,901,342)
Other assets (2,268,541) (5,561,576)

Increase in:
Deposit liabilities 223,637,354 123,121,616
Other liabilities 2,717,462 6,910,334

Net cash provided by (used in) operations 43,434,842 (134,901,389)
Income taxes paid (34,396,295) (11,896,635)
Contributions to retirement fund (Note17) (12,000,000) (9,617,623)
Net cash used in operating activities (2,961,453) (156,415,647)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:

Property and equipment (Note 9) (29,164,785) (9,699,756)
Software costs (Note 11) (667,952) (1,002,785)

Proceeds from disposal of:
Investment properties (Note 10) 400,000 –
Property and equipment 73,754 –

Net cash used in investing activities (29,358,983) (10,702,541)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
Proceeds from:

Availment of bills payable 303,813,585 175,000,000
Issuance of common stock (Notes 15 and 22) 26,702,800 –
Issuance of preferred stock (Note 15) 9,827,600 –
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 15) – 46,500,000

Payments of bills payable (187,083,333) –
Payment of dividend (26,000,000) –
Net cash provided by financing activities 127,260,652 221,500,000

(Forward)
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*SGVFS017870*

- 2 -

Years Ended December 31
2015 2014

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS P=94,940,216 P=54,381,812

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR

Cash and other cash items 1,973,592 380,545
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 11,071,066 4,115,479
Due from other banks 85,021,956 39,188,778

98,066,614 43,684,802

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
Cash and other cash items 2,614,949 1,973,592
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 20,674,211 11,071,066
Due from other banks 169,717,670 85,021,956

P=193,006,830 P=98,066,614

OPERATIONAL CASH FLOWS FROM INTEREST
Interest received P=305,826,699 P=145,619,661
Interest paid 21,497,110 8,915,387

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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*SGVFS017870*

RIZAL BANK, INC., A MICROFINANCE-ORIENTED RURAL BANK
(Formerly Rizal Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc.)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Rizal Bank, Inc., A Microfinance-Oriented Rural Bank (the Bank) was incorporated under
Philippine laws by virtue of Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Certificate of
Registration No. ASO94-11394 dated December 15, 1994.  The Bank was granted the authority by
the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) to operate on April 29, 1996.  It was established primarily
to engage in the business of rural banking as defined and authorized under Republic Act No. 3779,
As Amended, such as granting loans to small farmers and to deserving rural enterprises, as well as
receiving deposits in accordance with the regulations promulgated by the Monetary Board.

The Monetary Board, in its Resolution No. 155 dated January 25, 2013, approved the acquisition
by Center for Agriculture and Rural Development (CARD), Inc. (40.00%), CARD Bank Inc.
(40.00%) and various individuals (20.00%) of 100.00% of the outstanding shares of the Bank.

The principal place of business of the Bank is at P. Guevarra St., Cor. Aguirre St., Brgy. Poblacion
2, Sta. Cruz, Laguna.  As at December 31, 2015, the Bank consists of its head office and six (6)
branches.

On November 18, 2014, the BSP approved the change in the Bank’s corporate name from Rizal
Rural Bank (Taytay, Rizal), Inc. to Rizal Bank, Inc., A Microfinance-Oriented Rural Bank.  On
April 15, 2015, the SEC approved the change in the corporate name of the Bank.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The
financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, the Bank’s functional currency, and all
values are rounded to the nearest peso except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Presentation of Financial Statements
The Bank presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity.  An analysis
regarding recovery (asset) or settlement (liability) within 12 months after the reporting date
(current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (noncurrent) are disclosed in Note 14.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to set off the recognized amounts
and there is intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.  The Bank assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is
not contingent on a future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event
of default, and event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank and all of the counterparties.

Income and expenses are not offset in the statement of income unless required or permitted by any
accounting standard or interpretation and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the
Bank.
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Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.  The
following new and amended PFRSs and Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) which were
adopted by the Bank on January 1, 2015 did not have any significant impact on the financial
statements of the Bank.

· Amendments to PAS 19, Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

· Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle
· PFRS 2, Share-based Payment – Definition of Vesting Condition
· PFRS 3, Business Combinations – Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business

Combination
· PFRS 8, Operating Segments – Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of

the Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets
· PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 38, Intangible Assets – Revaluation

method – Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
· PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures – Key Management Personnel

· Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle
· PFRS 3, Business Combinations – Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements
· PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement – Portfolio Exception
· PAS 40, Investment Property

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fair Value Measurement
The Bank initially measures its financial and non-financial instruments at fair value.  Fair values
of financial instruments measured at amortized cost are disclosed in Note 4.

Fair value is the estimated price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

· in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
· in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price (e.g., an input from
a dealer market), the price between the bid-ask price spread that is most representative of fair
value in the circumstances shall be used to measure fair value, regardless of where the input is
categorized within the fair value hierarchy.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.



RIZAL BANK , inc. Annual  Report   201522 RIZAL BANK, inc. Annual  Report   2015- 3 -

*SGVFS017870*

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described in Note 4, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Bank determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at every reporting date.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items,
amounts due from BSP and other banks that are convertible to known amounts of cash with
original maturities of three months or less from dates of placements and that are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value.  Due from BSP includes the statutory reserves required by
the BSP which the Bank considers as cash equivalents as withdrawals can be made to meet the
Bank’s cash requirements as allowed by the BSP.  The components of cash and cash equivalents
are shown in the statement of cash flows.  Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost
in the statement of financial position.

Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
Date of recognition
Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of the assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on
settlement date.  Deposit liabilities and loans and receivables are recognized when cash is received
or released to the borrowers, respectively, by the Bank.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Except for
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), the initial
measurement includes transaction costs.  The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following
categories:  financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale
(AFS) investments and loans and receivables.  Financial liabilities are classified as financial
liabilities at FVPL and financial liabilities carried at amortized cost.  The classification depends on
the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active
market.  Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting
date.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has no financial instruments at FVPL and AFS
investments.

‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value or from other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable market, the Bank recognizes the difference
between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in the statement of income
unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.
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In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction
price and model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Bank determines the
appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference amount.

Loans and receivables
This accounting policy relates to the statement of financial position captions ‘Loans and
receivables’, ‘Due from BSP’, ‘Due from other banks’ and refundable rental deposits under ‘Other
assets’.  These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that are not quoted in an active market, other than:

· those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that the Bank
upon initial recognition designates as at FVPL;

· those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, designates as AFS investments; or
· those for which the Bank may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than

because of credit deterioration.

After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less any allowance for credit losses.  Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate (EIR).  The amortization is included in ‘Interest
income’ in the statement of income.  The losses arising from impairment are recognized in
‘Provision for credit and impairment losses’ in the statement of income.

HTM investments
HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities for which the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability to
hold to maturity.  After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment in value.  Amortized cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an
integral part of the EIR.  The amortization is included in ‘Interest income’ in the statement of
income.  Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of income when the HTM investments
are derecognized and impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  The losses arising
from impairment of such investments are recognized in the statement of income under ‘Provision
for credit and impairment losses’.

If the Bank sells more than an insignificant amount of HTM investments prior to maturity (other
than in specific circumstances) the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS
investments.  Furthermore, the Bank would be precluded from using the HTM investment
category for the following two years.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
This category represents issued financial instruments or their components, which are not
designated at FVPL where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Bank having
an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of own equity shares.  The financial liabilities at amortized cost are classified under
‘Deposit liabilities’, ‘Bills payable’, ‘Accrued expenses’, ‘Accounts payable’, and ‘Accrued
interest payable’ in the statement of financial position.
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The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

After initial measurement, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on the issue and fees that are integral part of the EIR.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial
assets) is derecognized when:

a. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
b. the Bank retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
or

c. the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control over the asset.

Where the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
‘pass-through’ arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks,
rewards and control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Bank’s continuing
involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in the statement of income.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and
where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Financial asset carried at amortized cost
For ‘Loans and receivables’, ‘Due from BSP’, ‘Due from other banks’, ‘HTM investments’ and
refundable rental deposits under ‘Other assets’, the Bank first assesses whether objective evidence
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.

If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of
the counterparties’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets
being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for
impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
loss is charged to the statement of income.  Financial assets, together with the associated
allowance accounts, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realized.  If, subsequently, the amount of the estimated impairment loss
decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance account.

If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to
‘Miscellaneous’ in the statement of income.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis
of such credit risk characteristics as days past-due and term.  Future cash flows in a group of
financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.

Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects
of current conditions that did not affect the period in which the historical loss experience is based
and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect and are directionally consistent with changes in
related observable data from period to period (such as changes in unemployment rates, payment
status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and their magnitude).  The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Prepayments
Prepayments are expenses paid in advance and recorded as asset before they are utilized.  This
account consists of prepaid rentals and prepaid expenses presented under ‘Other assets’ in the
statements of financial position.  Prepayments are apportioned over the period covered by the
payments and charged to the appropriate accounts in the statement of income when incurred.
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Property and Equipment
Depreciable property and equipment, which include building, furniture, fixtures and equipment,
information technology equipment, transportation equipment and leasehold improvements, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, and any impairment in value.  Land
is stated at cost less any impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the property and equipment to its working condition and location for
its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are normally charged against operations in the year
the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures
have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the
expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment.

Construction-in-progress are transferred to the related property and equipment account when the
construction or installation and related activities necessary to prepare the property and equipment
for their intended use are completed, and the property and equipment are ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (EUL) of the
depreciable assets.  The EULs of the depreciable assets follow:

Building 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 years
Information technology equipment 3 years
Transportation equipment 3 years
Leasehold and improvements 5 years or the terms of the related

leases, whichever is shorter

The EULs and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that
the period and the method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such
indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the
assets are written down to their recoverable amounts.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized.

Software Costs
Costs related to software purchased by the Bank for use in operations are amortized on a
straight-line basis using an EUL of five (5) years.

Expenditures which enhance or extend the performance of computer software programs beyond
their original specifications are recognized as capital improvements and added to the original cost
of the software.
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Investment Property
Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  An investment
property acquired through an exchange transaction is measured at fair value of the asset acquired
unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be measured, in which case the investment property
acquired is measured at the carrying amount of the asset given up.  Foreclosed properties are
classified under ‘Investment properties’ upon either:

· Entry of judgment in case of judicial foreclosure;
· Execution of sheriff’s certificate of sale in case of extra-judicial foreclosure; or
· Notarization of the deed of dacion in case of payment in kind (dacion en pago).

The difference between the fair value of the asset acquired and the carrying amount of asset given
up is recognized in the statement of income.  Expenditures incurred after the investment properties
are recognized, such as repairs and maintenance costs, are normally charged to income in the
period in which the costs are incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, depreciable investment properties are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.

Investment property is derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its
disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use
evidenced by ending of owner occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party
or ending of construction or development.  Transfers are made from investment properties when,
and only when, there is a change in use evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or
commencement of development with a view to sale.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is any indication that its non-financial
assets may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment
testing for an asset is required, the Bank makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is assessed as part of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs.  Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and
is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is charged to the statement of income in the year in which it arises.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been



RIZAL BANK , inc. Annual  Report   201528 RIZAL BANK, inc. Annual  Report   2015- 9 -

*SGVFS017870*

determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income.  After such a reversal,
the depreciation expense is adjusted in future years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount,
less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining life.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The Bank assesses its revenue arrangements
against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent.  The Bank has
concluded that it is acting as a principal in recognizing interest income and charges.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before the revenue is recognized:

Interest income
For all financial assets measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded at EIR, which is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability.  The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the
financial instrument including any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
instrument and are an integral part of the EIR, but not future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of payments
or receipts.  The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR.  The change in
carrying amount adjusted for interest received is recorded as ‘Interest income’.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or group of similar financial assets has been reduced
due to an impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognized using the original EIR used
to discount the future recoverable cash flows.

Bank charges
Bank charges are recognized only upon collection or where there is a reasonable degree of
certainty as to their collectability.  These items are reported under ‘Miscellaneous’ in the statement
of income.

Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized when it is probable that decrease in the future economic benefits related
to decrease in asset or an increase in liability has occurred and that the decrease in economic
benefits can be measured reliably.  Expenses that may arise in the course of ordinary regular
activities of the Bank include among others the operating expenses of the Bank.  Expenses are
recognized as incurred.

Interest expense
Interest expense for financial liabilities is recognized in ‘Interest expense’ in the statement income
using the EIR of the financial liabilities to which they relate.

Retirement Benefits
The Bank operates a defined benefit retirement plan which requires contribution to be made to a
separately administered fund.  The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date reduced by the fair value of
plan assets  (if any), adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset
ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.
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The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

· Service cost
· Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
· Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on
non-routine settlements are recognized as expense in the statement of income.  Past service costs
are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.  These amounts are calculated
periodically by independent qualified actuaries.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by
applying the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the
statement of income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the period in which they arise.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to the statement of income in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund.  Plan assets are not
available to the creditors of the Bank, nor can they be paid directly to the Bank.  Fair value of plan
assets is based on market price information.  When no market price is available, the fair value of
plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that
reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of
those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related
obligations).  If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined
benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present
value of economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the
asset.

A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
b. a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or

extension was initially included in the lease term;
c. there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;

or
d. there is a substantial change to the asset.
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Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios ‘a’, ‘c’ or ‘d’ above, and at the
date of renewal or extension period for scenario ‘b’.

Bank as lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Income Taxes
Current tax
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the statement of financial position liability method, on all
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences with exceptions.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of
unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate
income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and carryforward of unused excess MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO can be
utilized.

Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable income will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to
the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred taxes relates to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Current income tax and deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is
recognized in OCI, and not in profit or loss.
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Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.  When the Bank issues
more than one class of stock, a separate account is maintained for each class of stock and the
number of shares issued.  Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the issuance of new
shares are shown in equity as deduction from proceeds, net of tax.  The subscribed capital stock is
reported in equity less the related subscription receivable not currently collectible. Capital stock
consists of common and preferred. Preferred stocks are (a) cumulative, (b) non-voting, and
(c) non-redeemable.

Subscribed common stock is recognized at subscribed amount net of subscription receivable.

Subscriptions receivable pertains to uncollected portion of subscribed stocks.  The Bank accounted
for the subscription receivable as a contra equity account.

Retained earnings represents the cumulative balance of periodic net income or loss, dividend
contributions, prior period adjustments, effect of changes in accounting policy and other capital
adjustments.

Cash dividends are recognized as liability and deducted from the equity when approved by the
Board of Directors (BOD) while stock dividends are deducted from equity when approved by
BOD and stockholders.  Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are dealt
with as subsequent events.  Stock issuance costs are accounted for as deduction from equity.

Deposit for Future Stock Subscription
Deposit for future stock subscription (DFS) represents payments made on subscription of shares
which cannot be directly credited to ‘Preferred stock’ or ‘Common stock’ pending registration
with the SEC of the amendment to the Articles of Incorporation increasing capital stock.  In
accordance with SEC Financial Reporting Bulletin No. 006 issued in 2012, the Bank does
consider a deposit for future subscription as an equity instrument unless all of the following
elements are present.

1. The unissued authorized capital stock of the Bank is insufficient to cover the amount of shares
classified as deposits for future shares subscriptions;

2. the entity’s BOD and shareholders have approved an increase in capital stock to cover the
shares corresponding to the amount of the deposit; and

3. an application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been presented for filing or
filed with the SEC and BSP.

DFS that does not meet the foregoing provisions is treated as a financial liability.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has DFS recorded under liabilities amounting to nil
and P=47.50 million, respectively.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when an obligation (legal or constructive) is incurred as a result of a
past event and where it is probable that an outflow of assets embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Where the Bank expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an
insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the
statement of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is
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material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognized as an ‘Interest expense’ in the statement of income.

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the
possibility of an outflow of assets embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are
not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.

Events After the Reporting Date
Post-year-end events up to the date of approval of the BOD of the financial statements that
provide additional information about the Bank’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events)
are reflected in the financial statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any,
are disclosed in the notes when material to the financial statements.

Standards Issued but not yet Effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Bank’s financial statements are listed below.  The Bank intends to adopt these standards when
they become effective.  Adoption of these standards and interpretations are not expected to have
any significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.

No definite adoption date prescribed by the SEC and Financial Reporting Standards Council
(FRSC):

· Philippine Interpretation on International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate.

Effective January 1, 2016
· PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures - Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments)
· PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

(Amendments)
· PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests (Amendments)
· PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments)
· PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
· PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of

Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization (Amendments)
· PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41, Agriculture - Bearer Plants
· Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2012-2014 Cycle)

· PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in
Methods of Disposal

· PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts
· PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial

Statements
· PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate
· PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosures of Information ‘Elsewhere in the

Interim Financial Report’
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Effective January 1, 2018
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued the final version of
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments.  The new standard (renamed as PFRS 9) reflects all phases of the
financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The standard introduces new requirements for
classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.  PFRS 9 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.
Retrospective application is required, but providing comparative information is not compulsory.
For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited
exceptions.  Early application of previous versions of PFRS 9 (2009, 2010 and 2013) is permitted
if the date of initial application is before February 1, 2015.  The Bank did not early adopt PFRS 9.

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Bank’s
financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no impact on the
classification and measurement of the Bank’s financial liabilities.  The Bank is currently assessing
the impact of adopting this standard.

The following new standards issued by the IASB has not yet been locally adopted by the Financial
Reporting Standard Council, Board of Accountancy and Professional Regulation Commission.

International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 by IASB and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to
revenue arising from contracts with customers.  Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer.  The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach to measuring and recognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRS.  Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective application is required.  Early adoption is permitted.  The Bank is currently assessing
the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date once
adopted locally.

IFRS 16, Leases
On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued its new standard, IFRS 16, Leases, which replaces
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 17, the current leases standard, and the related
Interpretations.

Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or finance
leases in accordance with IAS 17.  Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset model.  Under this
model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most leases on their statements of
financial position, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize interest on the
lease liabilities in their profit or loss.  Leases with a term of 12 months or less or for which the
underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requirements.

The accounting of lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the
principles of lessor accounting under IAS 17.  Lessors, however, will be required to disclose more
information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual value.
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Entities may early adopt IFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted, IFRS 15, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers.  When adopting IFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use whether a full
retrospective of a modified retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs.
The Bank is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 and plans to adopt the new standard on the
required effective date once adopted locally.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities, if
any.  Future events may occur which will cause the judgments used in arriving at the estimates to
change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the financial statements as they
become reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Judgments
(a) Operating leases – Bank as lessee

In determining whether or not there is an indication of operating lease treatment, the Bank
considers retention of ownership title to the leased property, period of lease contract relative to
the estimated useful economic life of the leased property and bearer of executory costs, among
others.

The Bank has entered into leases on premises and transportation and information technology
(IT) equipment it uses for its operations.  The Bank has determined that all significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the properties it leases on operating lease are not transferred to
the Bank.

(b) Classification of HTM investments
The classification of financial assets to HTM category requires significant judgment.  In
making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to
maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments to maturity other than in certain specific
circumstances - for example, selling a more than an insignificant amount close to maturity - it
will be required to reclassify the entire portfolio as AFS investments.  The investments would
therefore be measured at fair value and not at amortized cost.  Refer to Note 8 for the carrying
value of HTM investments.

(c) Financial assets not quoted in an active market
The Bank classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is quoted
or not in an active market.  Included in the evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in
an active market is the determination on whether the quoted prices are readily and regularly
available, and whether those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s-length basis.
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Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next period, are described below.  The Bank based its
assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to
market changes or circumstances beyond the control of the Bank.  Such changes are reflected in
the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Credit losses on loans and receivables
The Bank reviews its loans and receivables to assess impairment annually.  In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of income, the Bank makes
judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of receivables before the decrease
can be identified with an individual receivable in that portfolio.  This evidence may include
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of
customers or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the loans
and receivables.  Past-due accounts and loans wherein the borrower requested moratorium but
no subsequent collection is made after the moratorium ends at year-end, fall under specific
loan loss provision.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of loans and
receivables and related allowance for credit losses are disclosed in Note 7.

(b) Recognition of deferred tax assets
The amount of deferred tax assets recognized by the Bank is based on the estimate of future
taxable income.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax asset that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning.

The Bank reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax asset at each reporting date and reduces
this to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  The recognized and unrecognized
deferred tax assets for the Bank are disclosed in Note 20.

(c) Impairment of HTM investments
The Bank determines that HTM investments are impaired based on the same criteria as loans
and receivables.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, no impairment losses were recognized on HTM
investments, which comprised of government securities issued by the Philippine Government.
The carrying value of HTM investments is disclosed in Note 8.

(d) Present value of defined benefit obligation
The cost of defined benefit pension plan and other post employment benefits is determined
using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about
discount rates, future salary increases, and mortality rates.  Due to the complexity of the
valuation, the underlying assumptions and long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are
subject to significant uncertainty.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the market yields on
Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit
payout at reporting date, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration
of the defined benefit obligation.  Future salary increases are based on expected future



RIZAL BANK , inc. Annual  Report   201536 RIZAL BANK, inc. Annual  Report   2015- 17 -

*SGVFS017870*

inflation rates for the specific country.  The mortality rate is based on publicly available
mortality tables for the specific country and is modified accordingly with estimates of
mortality improvements.  The present value of the retirement liability and fair value of plan
assets are disclosed in Note 17.

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Bank assesses impairment on property and equipment, investment property and software
costs whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may
not be recoverable.  The factors that the Bank considers important which could trigger an
impairment review include the following:

· significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating
results;

· significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall
business; and

· significant negative industry or economic trends.

The Bank recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amounts of non-financial
assets exceed their recoverable amounts.  The carrying values of the Bank’s property and
equipment, investment property and software costs are disclosed in Notes 9, 10 and 11,
respectively.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, no impairment losses were provided on
non-financial assets.

(f) Estimated useful lives of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs
The Bank estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment, investment properties and
software costs.  This estimate is reviewed periodically to ensure that the periods of
depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits
from the items of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs.  Refer to
accounting policy of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs in
Note 2 for the assets’ EUL.

4. Fair Value Measurement

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, deposit liabilities and other
liabilities except for unquoted debt securities classified as loans approximate their carrying values
in view of the relatively short-term maturities of these instruments.  All loans and receivables are
due within 1 year from the reporting date.

The fair values of HTM investments is generally based on quoted market prices.  When these are
not available, the fair value is determined using interpolated market rates of benchmark securities.
HTM investments of the Bank are categorized as Level 2 due to the low volume of funding and
absence of bid-offer rates as at reporting date.

The fair values of unquoted debt securities classified as loans (UDSCL) are estimated based on the
discounted cash flow methodology, using current incremental lending rates for similar types of
loans or instruments ranging from 1.71% to 7.70% in 2015 and 1.71% to 7.30% in 2014.
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The fair value of the Bank’s investment property has been determined based on valuations made
by independent appraiser on the basis of recent sales transactions of similar properties in the same
areas as the properties and taking into account the economic conditions prevailing at the time the
valuations were made.

Refundable rental deposits
The Bank’s financial instruments where the carrying values do not approximate fair value pertain
to the refundable rental deposits recorded under ‘Other Assets.’  These are reported at cost and are
not significant in relation to the Bank’s financial asset portfolio.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Bank uses a hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of its assets and liabilities
(see accounting policy on Fair Value Measurement).

The following tables summarize the carrying amounts and the fair values by level of the fair value
hierarchy of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015
Carrying

Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Total Fair

Value
Assets and liability for which fair

values are disclosed:
Financial assets
 UDSCL P=10,143,831 P=– P=– P=10,884,338 P=10,884,338
 HTM investments 2,000,924 – 2,008,234 – 2,008,234

2014
Carrying

Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Total Fair

Value
Assets and liability for which fair values

are disclosed:
Financial assets
 UDSCL P=5,179,788 P=– P=– P=4,404,514 P=4,404,514
 HTM investments 2,006,130 – 2,069,757 – 2,069,757
Nonfinancial asset
 Investment property 490,160 – – 490,160 490,160

Description of the level of inputs used for fair valuation follows:

· Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities; in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liabilities

· Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

· Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair
value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.
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5. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

In the course of the business cycle, the Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:

· Credit risk
· Market risk
· Liquidity risk

The Bank adheres to the proactive and prudent approach of managing the business that recognizes
and manages risks to continuously provide quality financial services to clients and to protect
shareholders’ value.

Risk management process involves identifying and assessing the risk, taking actions to mitigate
the risks through defined roles and responsibilities, close monitoring of the scenarios, and
adjustment of the systems and policies necessary to effectively minimize risk level.

The BOD through its Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) is responsible for monitoring the Bank’s
implementation of risk management policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of
risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank.  The ROC regularly reports
to the BOD the results of reviews of actual implementation of risk management policies.  Risk
management of the Bank is strengthened in conjunction with Audit Committee (AC) and Internal
Audit (IA) functions.  IA undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the AC.  In addition, an Asset Liability
Committee (ALCO) with members from Executive Committee and Management Committee of the
Bank regularly performs analysis of the operating and financial risk management.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if the counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations.  The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on
the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and
industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

Management of credit risk
The Bank faces potential credit risks every time it extends funds to borrowers, commits funds to
counterparties or invests funds to issuers (e.g., investment securities issued by either sovereign or
corporate entities).

The Bank manages credit risks by instilling credit discipline both among the staff and the
borrowers.  Close-monitoring and assessment of account throughout the borrowing period is being
done.  Moreover, on-time and quality service delivery increase motivation of the borrowers to
fulfill their financial obligation.  Instilling good credit discipline and commitment are always
considered through regular orientation and training.  Consequently, their savings balances are
pledged and serve as guarantee to their loans, which increase their borrowing capacity.  Each
business unit has a designated Unit Manager, who reports on all credit-related matters to Area
Manager and Regional Director.  Each business unit is responsible for the quality and performance
of its credit portfolio and monitoring and controlling risks associated with it.  Regular audits of
business units and credit processes are undertaken by IA.  In addition, Executive Committee and
Management Committee members of the Bank regularly conduct monitoring based on their
respective target per month.  This strategy further ensures that business unit’s implementation is
within the credit policy and regulation of the Bank.  Regular capacity building program through



RIZAL BANK , inc. Annual  Report   2015 RIZAL BANK, inc. Annual  Report   2015 39
- 20 -

*SGVFS017870*

provisions of banking-related trainings such as but not limited to credit risk management,
managing business, and delinquency management are regularly run.  Availability of operations
manual as reference, assist personnel in handling daily transaction.  The manual is customized for
microfinance clients and is being updated as often as new policies and procedures are finalized
and approved by the BOD, based on client and staff satisfaction surveys, staff and management
program review and planning meetings and workshops.  A codified signing authority is in place
for every level of loan processing and approval.

All past due are reported on daily, weekly and monthly bases.  Consistent monitoring for this
group of accounts is established by competent and diligent staff to maximize recovery.  Writing
off bad accounts are approved by the BOD and reported to the BSP in compliance with the rules
and regulations for banks.

The ROC closely monitors the over-all credit operations.  Identified existing and potential risks
are acted upon appropriately and are reported during monthly meetings of the BOD.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
An analysis of the maximum exposure to credit risk after taking into account any collateral held or
other credit enhancements is shown below as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015

Maximum
Exposure

Fair Value of
Collateral

Financial
Effect of

Collateral Net Exposure
Receivable from customers P=785,327,757 P=177,667,059 P=177,667,059 P=607,660,698

2014
Maximum

Exposure
Fair Value of

Collateral
Financial Effect of

Collateral Net Exposure
Receivable from customers P=472,616,418 P=98,706,518 P=97,947,083 P=374,669,335

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover the credit risks associated with its due from BSP and other banks, other
receivables, HTM investments and other financial assets.  Hence, the carrying values of those
financial assets best represent the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Credit enhancement for receivable from customers pertains to deposit hold-out from pledge
savings equivalent to 15.00% of the original amount of the loan to the member as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014.

The Bank has no financial instruments with rights of set-off in accordance to PAS 32 as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014.  There are also no financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements which require disclosure in the
financial statements in accordance with amendments to PFRS 7.
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Additionally, the tables below show the distribution of maximum credit exposure by industry
sector of the Bank as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015

Loans and
Receivables

Due from
BSP and

Other Banks
HTM

Investments Other Assets* Total
Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor

vehicles, motorcycles and personal and
household goods P=225,966,623 P=– P=– P=– P=225,966,623

Agriculture, hunting and forestry 185,121,680 – – – 185,121,680
Financial institutions 10,000,000 106,915,833 – – 116,915,833
Construction 98,211,166 – – – 98,211,166
Government 143,831 83,476,048 2,000,924 – 85,620,803
Manufacturing 81,440,749 – – – 81,440,749
Information and communication 43,158,969 – – – 43,158,969
Accommodation and food service activities 38,993,811 – – – 38,993,811
Education 36,845,213 – – – 36,845,213
Fishing 32,033,404 – – – 32,033,404
Transportation and storage 21,833,932 – – – 21,833,932
Administrative and support service activities 8,916,580 – – – 8,916,580
Water supply, sewerage, waste management,

and remediation activities 7,117,179 – – – 7,117,179
Real estate activities 4,983,123 – – – 4,983,123
Human health and  social work activities 4,536,451 – – – 4,536,451
Professional, scientific and technical services 2,684,478 – – – 2,684,478
Arts, entertainment and recreation 2,029,854 – – – 2,029,854
Other community, social and personal service
activities – – – 671,216 671,216
Electricity, gas and water supply 464,612 – – – 464,612
Mining and quarrying 268,008 – – – 268,008
Other service activities 19,061,827 – – – 19,061,827

823,811,490 190,391,881 2,000,924 671,216 1,016,875,511
Less allowance for credit losses 17,517,303 – – – 17,517,303
Total P=806,294,187 P=190,391,881 P=2,000,924 P=671,216 P=999,358,208
*Pertains to refundable rental deposits

2014

Loans and
Receivables

Due from
BSP and

Other Banks
HTM

Investments Other Assets* Total
Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor

vehicles, motorcycles and personal and
household goods P=186,190,359 P=– P=– P=– P=186,190,359

Agriculture, hunting and forestry 108,715,602 – – – 108,715,602
Financial institutions 5,000,000 85,021,956 – – 90,021,956
Real estate activities 42,335,123 – – – 42,335,123
Manufacturing 41,438,769 – – – 41,438,769
Fishing 21,715,929 – – – 21,715,929
Information and communication 19,290,279 – – – 19,290,279
Accommodation and food service activities 16,081,452 – – – 16,081,452
Education 14,187,487 – – – 14,187,487
Government 179,788 11,071,066 2,006,130 – 13,256,984
Transportation and storage 10,801,355 – – – 10,801,355
Other community, social and personal service

activities 6,663,321 – – 440,133 7,103,454
Administrative and support service activities 4,999,645 – – – 4,999,645
Water supply, sewerage, waste management

and remediation activities P=4,622,088 – – – 4,622,088
Construction 2,051,632 – – – 2,051,632
Human health and social work activities 1,650,583 – – – 1,650,583
Professional, scientific and technical services 884,031 – – – 884,031
Arts, entertainment and recreation 809,845 – – – 809,845
Electricity, gas and water supply 605,802 – – – 605,802
Mining and quarrying 52,400 – – – 52,400
Other services activities 2,960,778 – – – 2,960,778

491,236,268 96,093,022 2,006,130 440,133 589,775,553
Less allowance for credit losses 6,776,740 – – – 6,776,740
Total P=484,459,528 P=96,093,022 P=2,006,130 P=440,133 P=582,998,813
*Pertains to refundable rental deposits
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Credit quality per class of financial assets
The description of the financial assets grading used by the Bank is as follows:

· High grade – These are financial assets which have a high probability of collection or are
invested or deposited with reputable financial institutions.  The counterparty has the apparent
ability to satisfy its obligation and the securities on the receivables are readily enforceable.

· Standard grade – These are financial assets where collections are probable due to the
reputation and the financial ability of the counterparty to pay but with experience of default.

The tables below show the credit quality per class of financial assets (gross of allowance for credit
and impairment losses) as at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

2015

High grade
Standard

grade
Past due but
not impaired Impaired Total

Due from BSP P=20,674,211 P=– P=– P=– P=20,674,211
Due from other banks 169,717,670 – – – 169,717,670
Receivable from customers:
 Microfinance loans – 721,799,273 2,416,224 4,642,522 728,858,019
 Other loans – 73,384,085 258,007 344,949 73,987,041
Other receivables:
 Accrued interest receivable 102,407 10,643,764 – – 10,746,171
 Accounts receivable – 76,428 – – 76,428
 Unquoted debt securities classified

as loans – 10,143,831 – – 10,143,831
HTM investments 2,000,924 – – – 2,000,924
Other assets:
Refundable rental deposits – 671,216 – – 671,216

P=192,495,212 P=816,718,597 P=2,674,231 P=4,987,471 P=1,016,875,511

2014

High grade
 Standard

grade
Past due but
not impaired Impaired Total

Due from BSP P=11,071,066 P=– P=– P=– P=11,071,066
Due from other banks 85,021,956 – – – 85,021,956
Receivable from customers:
 Microfinance loans – 400,753,582 250,953 1,834,524 402,839,059
 Other loans – 76,338,585 61,821 153,693 76,554,099
Other receivables:
 Accrued interest receivable 22,278 6,119,705 – – 6,141,983
 Unquoted debt securities classified

as loans – 5,179,788 – – 5,179,788
 Accounts receivable – 521,339 – – 521,339
HTM investments 2,006,130 – – – 2,006,130
Other assets:
Refundable rental deposits – 440,133 – – 440,133

P=98,121,430 P=489,353,132 P=312,774 P=1,988,217 P=589,775,553

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank’s microfinance loans that are past due for more than
90 days are considered impaired.
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Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans and receivables
The following tables show the total aggregate amount of loans and receivables that are
contractually past due but not considered as impaired per delinquency bucket as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014.

2015
Less than

30 Days 31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days Total
Microfinance loans P=920,768 P=867,130 P=628,326 P=2,416,224
Other loans 106,137 100,034 51,836 258,007

P=1,026,905 P=967,164 P=680,162 P=2,674,231

2014
Less than

30 Days 31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days Total
Microfinance loans P=25,298 P=46,667 P=178,988 P=250,953
Other loans 10,249 23,571 28,001 61,821

P=35,547 P=70,238 P=206,989 P=312,774

Carrying amount per class of loans and receivables which terms have been renegotiated
Restructured receivables have principal terms and conditions that have been modified in
accordance with an agreement setting forth a new plan of payment or a schedule of payment on a
periodic basis.  When the receivable account becomes past due and is being restructured or
extended, the approval of the BOD is required before loan booking and is always governed by the
BSP rules on restructuring.  No loans were restructured as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, fair values or future cash flows that may result
from changes in the price of a financial instrument.  The value of a financial instrument may
change as a result of changes in interest rates.  The financial instruments of the Bank have fixed
interest rates, and are therefore not subject to any interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk
The Bank’s receivables earn effective interest rates ranging from 32.00% to 58.80% and 33.47%
to 50.74% in 2015 and 2014.  The shortest term of loan is one month while the longest term is one
year.

The Bank’s savings deposit liabilities include compulsory and voluntary savings that earn 2.00%
per annum in 2015 and 2014.  Other regular savings accounts earn 1.50% and 5.00% in 2015 and
2014.  Special savings deposits have interest rates of 2.00% to 4.25% in 2015 and 2014.

Bills payable pays fixed interest rates to the Bank’s creditors ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% in
2015 and from 4.85% to 5.00% in 2014.

In order to manage its net interest margin, the Bank places its excess funds in high yield
investments and other short-term time deposits.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is generally defined as the current and prospective risk to earnings or capital arising
from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations when they come due without incurring
unacceptable losses or costs.
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The Bank’s ALCO is responsible for formulating the Bank’s liquidity risk management policies.
Liquidity management is among the most important activities conducted within the Bank.  The
Bank manages its liquidity risk through analyzing net funding requirements under alternative
scenarios, diversification of funding sources and contingency planning.  The Bank utilizes a
diverse range of sources of funds, although short-term deposits made with the Bank’s network of
domestic branches comprise the majority of such funding.  Core deposits composed mainly of
microfinance savings.

Liquidity risk is managed by the Bank through holding sufficient liquid assets and appropriate
assessment to ensure short-term funding requirements are met and by ensuring the high collection
performance at all times.  Deposits with banks are made on a short-term basis with almost all
being available on demand or within one month.

The Finance uses liquidity forecast models that estimate the Bank’s cash flow needs based on the
Bank’s actual contractual obligations and under normal circumstances and extraordinary
circumstances.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of
the Bank’s financial liabilities and related financial assets used for liquidity purposes:

2015

On demand
Due within

1 month
1 to

3 months
3 to

12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P=2,614,949 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=2,614,949
Due from BSP 20,674,211 – – – – 20,674,211
Due from other banks 24,507,816 71,902,787 73,381,693  169,792,296
Loans and receivable 307,017 29,335,521 157,407,769 621,403,453 150,000 808,603,760
Total Financial Assets 48,103,993 101,238,308 230,789,462 621,403,453 150,000 1,001,685,216
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 322,124,579 6,170,176 52,294,657 154,919,435 – 535,508,847
Bills payable – 4,821,150 82,610,117 213,917,949 – 301,349,216
Other liabilities:

Accrued expenses 2,958,153 880,675 878,260 3,640,169 8,357,257
Accrued interest payable 13,304 13,593 1,193,930 620,959 – 1,841,786
Accounts payable 1,371,725 – – – – 1,371,725

Total Financial Liabilities 326,467,761 11,885,594 136,976,964 369,458,343 3,640,169 848,428,831
Net (P=278,363,768) P=89,352,714 P=93,812,498 P=251,945,110 P=3,490,169 P=153,256,385

2014

On demand
Due within

1 month
1 to

3 months
3 to

12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P=1,973,592 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=1,973,592
Due from BSP 11,071,066 – – – – 11,071,066
Due from other banks 29,911,633 – 151,553,390  181,465,023
Loans and receivable 445,873 15,794,725 92,423,043 374,996,381 4,493,873 488,153,895
Total Financial Assets 43,402,164 15,794,725 243,976,433 374,996,381 4,493,873 682,663,576
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 188,496,440 41,746,422 6,665,927 72,584,138 – 309,492,927
Bills payable – – 46,234,744 134,991,813 – 181,226,557
Other liabilities:

Accrued expenses 672,000 2,322,516 300,000 598,969 2,882,099 6,775,584
Accrued interest payable – 201,128 35,982 1,015,825 – 1,252,935
Accounts payable 1,846,141 – – – – 1,846,141

Total Financial Liabilities 191,014,581 44,270,066 53,236,653 209,190,745 2,882,099 500,594,144
Net (P=147,612,417)  (P=28,475,341) P=190,739,780 P=165,805,636 P=1,611,774 P=182,069,432
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The Bank’s ALCO is responsible for formulating the Bank’s liquidity risk management policies.
Liquidity management is among the most important activities conducted within the Bank.  The
Bank manages its liquidity risk through analyzing net funding requirements under alternative
scenarios, diversification of funding sources and contingency planning.  The Bank utilizes a
diverse range of sources of funds, although short-term deposits made with the Bank’s network of
domestic branches comprise the majority of such funding.  Core deposits composed mainly of
microfinance savings.

Liquidity risk is managed by the Bank through holding sufficient liquid assets and appropriate
assessment to ensure short-term funding requirements are met and by ensuring the high collection
performance at all times.  Deposits with banks are made on a short-term basis with almost all
being available on demand or within one month.

The Finance uses liquidity forecast models that estimate the Bank’s cash flow needs based on the
Bank’s actual contractual obligations and under normal circumstances and extraordinary
circumstances.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of
the Bank’s financial liabilities and related financial assets used for liquidity purposes:

2015

On demand
Due within

1 month
1 to

3 months
3 to

12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P=2,614,949 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=2,614,949
Due from BSP 20,674,211 – – – – 20,674,211
Due from other banks 24,507,816 71,902,787 73,381,693  169,792,296
Loans and receivable 307,017 29,335,521 157,407,769 621,403,453 150,000 808,603,760
Total Financial Assets 48,103,993 101,238,308 230,789,462 621,403,453 150,000 1,001,685,216
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 322,124,579 6,170,176 52,294,657 154,919,435 – 535,508,847
Bills payable – 4,821,150 82,610,117 213,917,949 – 301,349,216
Other liabilities:

Accrued expenses 2,958,153 880,675 878,260 3,640,169 8,357,257
Accrued interest payable 13,304 13,593 1,193,930 620,959 – 1,841,786
Accounts payable 1,371,725 – – – – 1,371,725

Total Financial Liabilities 326,467,761 11,885,594 136,976,964 369,458,343 3,640,169 848,428,831
Net (P=278,363,768) P=89,352,714 P=93,812,498 P=251,945,110 P=3,490,169 P=153,256,385

2014

On demand
Due within

1 month
1 to

3 months
3 to

12 months
Beyond

1 year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P=1,973,592 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=1,973,592
Due from BSP 11,071,066 – – – – 11,071,066
Due from other banks 29,911,633 – 151,553,390  181,465,023
Loans and receivable 445,873 15,794,725 92,423,043 374,996,381 4,493,873 488,153,895
Total Financial Assets 43,402,164 15,794,725 243,976,433 374,996,381 4,493,873 682,663,576
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities 188,496,440 41,746,422 6,665,927 72,584,138 – 309,492,927
Bills payable – – 46,234,744 134,991,813 – 181,226,557
Other liabilities:

Accrued expenses 672,000 2,322,516 300,000 598,969 2,882,099 6,775,584
Accrued interest payable – 201,128 35,982 1,015,825 – 1,252,935
Accounts payable 1,846,141 – – – – 1,846,141

Total Financial Liabilities 191,014,581 44,270,066 53,236,653 209,190,745 2,882,099 500,594,144
Net (P=147,612,417)  (P=28,475,341) P=190,739,780 P=165,805,636 P=1,611,774 P=182,069,432
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6. Due from BSP and Other Banks

The ‘Due from BSP’ account represents the aggregate balance of non-interest-bearing peso
deposit accounts with the BSP which the Bank maintains primarily to meet reserve requirements
and to serve as a clearing account for interbank claims.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
Bank was able to meet the reserve requirements set by the BSP.

Due from other banks represent funds deposited with domestic banks which are used by the Bank
as part of its working funds.  The deposits earn interest at annual rates ranging from 0.25% to
1.75% in 2015 and 2014.

 Interest income on ‘Due from other banks’ amounted to P=1.85 million and P=0.52 million in 2015
and 2014, respectively.

7. Loans and Receivables

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Receivable from customers

Microfinance loans P=728,858,019 P=402,839,059
Other loans 73,987,041 76,554,099

802,845,060 479,393,158
Accrued interest receivable 10,746,171 6,141,983
Unquoted debt securities classified as
 loans (UDSCL) 10,143,831 5,179,788
Accounts receivable (Note 21) 76,428 521,339

823,811,490 491,236,268
Less allowance for credit losses 17,517,303 6,776,740

P=806,294,187 P=484,459,528

Interest income on loans and receivables follow:

2015 2014
Receivable from customers P=308,342,450 P=147,380,855
UDSCL 122,427 18,517

P=308,464,877 P=147,399,372

BSP Reporting
In accordance with BSP regulations, the Bank considers a loan as part of portfolio-at-risk (PAR)
when an installment payment is past due for one day.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
Bank’s PAR amounted to P=7.66 million and P=2.30 million, respectively.  The allowance for credit
losses recognized for past due loans amounted to P=5.59 million and P=2.01 million as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, based on the revised definition of nonperforming loans
(NPLs) under Circular No. 722, NPLs reported to the BSP amounted to P=7.56 million and
P=2.28 million, respectively.
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Generally, NPLs refer to loans whose principal and/or interest are unpaid after due date or after
they have become past due in accordance with existing BSP rules and regulations.  This shall
apply to loans receivable in lump sum and loans receivable in quarterly, semi-annual, or annual
installments, in which case, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be considered
nonperforming.

In the case of loans that are payable in monthly installments, the total outstanding balance thereof
shall be considered nonperforming when three or more installments are in arrears.

In the case of loans that are payable in daily, weekly, or semi-monthly installments, the total
outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming at the same time that they become
past due in accordance with existing BSP regulations, i.e., the entire outstanding balance of the
receivable shall be considered as past due when the total amount of arrearages reaches ten percent
(10.00%) of the total receivable balance.

In the case of microfinance loans, past due/ PAR accounts shall be considered as NPL. Loans are
classified as nonperforming in accordance with BSP regulations, or when, in the opinion of
management, collection of interest is doubtful.  Loans are not reclassified as performing until
interest and principal payments are brought to current or the loans are restructured in accordance
with existing BSP regulations, and future payments appear assured.

The following table shows the secured and unsecured portions of receivable from customers as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 (at gross amount):

2015 2014
Secured portion

Deposit hold-out P=202,194,492 P=132,930,973
Unsecured portion 600,650,568 346,462,185

P=802,845,060 P=479,393,158

Collateral of loans includes deposit hold-out at 15.00% of loan disbursed (Note 12).

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, information on the concentration of loans and receivables as
to industry follows (at gross amount):

2015 2014
Amount % Amount %

Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles,
motorcycles and personal and household goods P=225,966,623 28.15% P=183,835,065 38.35%

Agriculture, hunting and forestry 185,121,680 23.06% 107,340,358 22.39%
Construction 98,211,166 12.23% 2,025,679 0.42%
Manufacturing 81,440,749 10.14% 40,914,572 8.53%
Information and communication 43,158,969 5.38% 19,046,258 3.97%
Accommodation and food service activities 38,993,811 4.86% 15,878,023 3.31%
Education 36,845,213 4.59% 14,008,016 2.92%
Fishing 32,033,404 3.99% 21,441,224 4.47%
Transportation and storage 21,833,932 2.72% 10,664,719 2.23%
Administrative and support service activities 8,916,580 1.11% 4,863,577 1.02%
Water supply, sewerage, waste management and

remediation activities 7,117,179 0.89% 4,563,619 0.95%
Real estate activities 4,983,123 0.62% 41,799,587 8.72%
Human health and social work activities 4,536,451 0.57% 1,629,703 0.34%
Professional, scientific and technical  services 2,684,478 0.33% 871,155 0.18%
Arts, entertainment and recreation 2,029,854 0.25% 799,600 0.17%
Electricity, gas and water supply 464,612 0.06% 598,139 0.13%

(Forward)
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2015 2014
Amount % Amount %

Mining and quarrying P=268,008 0.03% P=51,737 0.01%
Community, social and personal service activities − − 6,138,802 1.28%
Other services activities 8,239,228 1.02% 2,923,325 0.61%

P=802,845,060 100.00% P=479,393,158 100.00%

The BSP considers that loan concentration exists when total loan exposure to a particular industry
or economic sector exceeds 30.0% of total loan portfolio.  Identified concentrations of credit risks
are controlled and managed accordingly.

The movements in allowance for credit losses on receivable from customers follow:

2015 2014
Balance at beginning of year P=6,776,740 P=2,326,096
Provision for credit losses 10,740,563 4,671,862
Write-off – (310,328)
Other credits – 89,110
Balance at end of year P=17,517,303 P=6,776,740
Collective impairment P=11,927,422 P=4,770,922
Individual impairment 5,589,881 2,005,818

P=17,517,303 P=6,776,740
Gross amounts of loans individually determined to

be impaired, before deducting any individually
assessed impairment losses P=4,987,471 P=1,988,217

Unquoted debt securities
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, unquoted debt securities consist of the following:

2015 2014
Small Business Corporation (SBC) P=10,000,000 P=5,000,000
Agrarian Reform 10-year bond 143,831 179,788

P=10,143,831 P=5,179,788

Investments in SBC pertain to non-negotiable Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Notes with
annual interest rate ranging from 1.71% to 2.57% in 2015 and 1.67% to 2.57 in 2014, subject to
annual repricing.

8. Held-to-maturity Investments

This account pertains to investments in treasury bonds issued in 2011 with a 6.00% annual coupon
interest rate and EIR of 5.46% to 6.00%.  The investments will mature in March 2016.
Amortization of premium on these investments amounted to P=5,206 in 2015 and P=5,021 in 2014.
The Bank recognized interest income on its HTM investments amounting to P=0.11 million in 2015
and 2014.
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9. Property and Equipment

The composition of and movements in this account follow:

Land Building

Furniture,
Fixtures and

Equipment

Information
Technology
Equipment

Transportation
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements

Construction
in Progress Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=13,345,742 P=10,826,042 P=7,311,570 P=764,851 P=597,559 P=3,238,010 P=– P=36,083,774
Additions 6,605,020 9,928,000 5,685,776 303,989 – 2,572,000 4,070,000 29,164,785
Disposals – – – (183,912) (383,142) – – (567,054)
Balance at end of year 19,950,762 20,754,042 12,997,346 884,928 214,417 5,810,010 4,070,000 64,681,505
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year – 772,717 1,523,302 284,694 283,495 1,879,413 – 4,743,621
Depreciation and amortization – 1,660,104 3,146,226 230,702 240,309 557,460 – 5,834,801
Disposals – – – (6,131) (309,388) – – (315,519)
Balance at end of year – 2,432,821 4,669,528 509,265 214,416 2,436,873 – 10,262,903
Net Book Value P=19,950,762 P=18,321,221 P=8,327,818 P=375,663 P=1 P=3,373,137 P=4,070,000 P=54,418,602

2014

Land Building

Furniture,
Fixtures and

Equipment

Information
Technology
Equipment

Transportation
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=12,957,419 P=6,300,000 P=3,742,988 P=515,262 P=382,498 P=3,238,010 P=27,136,177
Additions 388,323 4,526,042 3,994,657 461,511 329,223 – 9,699,756
Disposals – – (426,075) (211,922) (114,162) – (752,159)
Balance at end of year 13,345,742 10,826,042 7,311,570 764,851 597,559 3,238,010 36,083,774
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year – 105,000 731,563 330,870 175,696 1,508,887 2,852,016
Depreciation and amortization – 667,717 1,217,814 165,746 221,961 370,526 2,643,764
Disposals – – (426,075) (211,922) (114,162) – (752,159)
Balance at end of year – 772,717 1,523,302 284,694 283,495 1,879,413 4,743,621
Net Book Value P=13,345,742 P=10,053,325 P=5,788,268 P=480,157 P=314,064 P=1,358,597 P=31,340,153
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10. Investment Property

The movements of this account follow:

2015 2014
Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=490,160 P=490,160
Disposals (490,160) −
Balance at end of year P=− P=490,160

The investment property pertains to land located in Brgy. Lagundi, Morong, Rizal. This was
foreclosed in 2013.

In 2015, the investment property was sold for P=0.40 million resulting in recognition of loss of
P=90,160 (Note 19).

11. Other Assets

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Financial assets

Refundable rental deposits P=671,216 P=440,133
Nonfinancial assets

Stationery and supplies on hand 5,883,328 5,732,539
Prepaid rent 1,897,594 549,067
Software costs 1,314,176 902,695
Prepaid expenses 1,127,668 589,526

10,222,766 7,773,827
P=10,893,982 P=8,213,960

Prepaid expenses include advance lease payments of office and IT equipment from CARD
Leasing and Finance Corporation (CLFC), as well as IT services from CARD MRI Information
Technology, Inc. (Note 21).  Prepaid rent pertains to advances paid on lease of offices.

The movements of software costs follow:

2015 2014
Cost
Balance at beginning of year P=1,002,785 P=−
Additions 667,952 1,002,785
Balance at end of year 1,670,737 1,002,785
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginning of year 100,090 −
Amortization 256,471 100,090
Balance at end of year 356,561 100,090
Net Book Value P=1,314,176 P=902,695

No impairment loss was recognized on other assets in 2015 and 2014.
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12. Deposit Liabilities

The Bank’s deposit liabilities include regular savings amounting to P=322.12 million and
P=188.50 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  These represent the P=50.00 per
week aggregate compulsory savings collected from each member/nonmember/borrower plus any
voluntary deposit.  Under an assignment agreement, the “pledge” savings balances serve as
security for loans granted by the Bank to its members.  The “pledge” savings earn annual interest
of 2.00%.  A member/borrower is required to maintain a pledge savings balance equivalent to
15.00% of the original loan amount (Note 7).  Other regular savings accounts are “Kayang-kaya”
and “Tagumpay” savings deposit accounts which cater to non-members and Bank employees, and
carry interest rates of 1.50% and 5.00%, respectively.

Special savings deposits have interest rates of 2.00% to 4.25% in 2015 and 2014.

Interest expense on deposit liabilities are as follows:

2015 2014
Special savings deposit P=10,597,969 P=6,176,031
Regular savings deposits 5,174,044 2,820,058
Balance at end of year P=15,772,013 P=8,996,089

On April 3, 2014, the BSP issued Circular No. 830 which took effect on April 11, 2014.  Circular
No. 830 which superseded Circular No. 7053, issued on March 29, 2012, increased the reserve
requirements from 4.0% to 5.0% for demand deposits and from 2.0% to 3.0% for savings and
special savings deposits.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, available reserves pertain to Due from BSP of P=20.67 million
and P=11.07 million for 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The Bank is compliant with applicable
reserve requirements.

13. Bills Payable and Other Liabilities

Bills Payable
Bills payable represents borrowings from financing institutions which are subject to certain terms
and conditions and bears annual nominal interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 5.00% in 2015 and
from 4.85% to 5.00% in 2014.  Maturity period for the outstanding bills payable ranges from six
months to one year in 2015 and one year in 2014.

Other Liabilities
This account consists of the following:

2015 2014
Financial liabilities:

Accrued expenses P=4,717,088 P=3,745,027
Accrued interest payable 1,841,786 1,252,935
Accounts payable (Notes 18 and 21) 1,371,725 1,846,140

7,930,599 6,844,102

(Forward)



RIZAL BANK , inc. Annual  Report   201550 RIZAL BANK, inc. Annual  Report   2015- 31 -

*SGVFS017870*

2015 2014

Nonfinancial liabilities:
Accumulated vacation leaves P=3,640,169 P=3,032,157
Gross receipt taxes payable 1,774,407 1,195,635
Documentary stamp taxes payable 330,146 168,363
Withholding taxes payable 717,055 434,657

P=14,392,376 P=11,674,914

Accounts payable include due to suppliers and contractors, employees and related parties.

Accrued expenses include accrued rent and other operating expenses.

14. Maturity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities

The following table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to whether they
are expected to be recovered or settled within one year and beyond one year from balance sheet
dates:

2015 2014
Within

One Year
Beyond

One Year Total
Within

One Year
Beyond

One Year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P=2,614,949 P=– P=2,614,949 P=1,973,592 P=– P=1,973,592
Due from BSP 20,674,211 – 20,674,211 11,071,066 – 11,071,066
Due from other banks 169,717,670 – 169,717,670 85,021,956 – 85,021,956
Loans and receivables 813,667,659 10,143,831 823,811,490 486,056,480 5,179,788 491,236,268
HTM investments 2,000,924 – 2,000,924 – 2,006,130 2,006,130
Other assets – 1,798,884 1,798,884 61,600 378,533 440,133
Nonfinancial Assets
Property and equipment – 64,681,504 64,681,504 – 37,086,559 37,086,559
Investment properties – – – – 490,160 490,160
Retirement asset – 6,902,974 6,902,974 – 3,386,708 3,386,708
Deferred tax assets – 5,767,580 5,767,580 – 1,947,578 1,947,578
Other assets 7,780,922 1,670,737 9,451,659 6,367,365 503,767 6,871,132
Total Assets P=1,016,456,335 P=90,965,510 P=1,107,421,845 P=590,552,059 P=50,979,223 P=641,531,282

Less: Allowance for credit and
impairment losses (17,517,303) (6,776,740)

 Accumulated depreciation and
amortization (10,619,463) (4,843,711)

P=1,079,285,079 P=629,910,831

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities P=530,987,593 P=– P=530,987,593 P=307,350,239 P=– P=307,350,239
Bills payable 291,730,252 – 291,730,252 175,000,000 – 175,000,000
Other liabilities 11,570,768 11,570,768 6,994,160 2,882,099 9,876,259
Nonfinancial Liabilities
Income tax payable 13,812,525 – 13,812,525 6,501,183 – 6,501,183
Deposit for future stock subscription – – – 47,500,000 – 47,500,000
Retirement liability – – – – – –
Other liabilities 2,821,608 – 2,821,608 1,798,655 – 1,798,655
Total Liabilities P=850,922,746 P=– P=850,922,746 P=545,144,237 P=2,882,099 P=548,026,336

15. Equity

Capital Stock
The Bank’s authorized capital stock amounted to P=250.00 million, consisting of 2,000,000 shares
of common stock with par value of P=100 per share and 250,000 private preferred shares with par
value of P=200 per share.
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As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank’s capital stock consists of:

2015 2014
Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common stock - P=100 par value,
2,000,000 authorized shares

Common stock at the beginning of the
year 490,000 P=49,000,000 7,500 P=750,000

Issuance of shares of stocks from
settlement of subscriptions
receivable 480,750 48,075,000 482,500 48,250,000

Common stock at the end of the year 970,750 97,075,000 490,000 49,000,000
Subscribed 1,029,250 102,925,000 − −
Subscription receivable – (76,797,200) – −

2,000,000 P=123,202,800 490,000 P=49,000,000

Preferred stock
Issued and Outstanding 49,138 P=9,827,600 – P=–

Preferred shares have the following features: (a) cumulative, (b) non-voting, and (c) non-
redeemable. Preferred shareholders shall be entitled to a dividend rate of eight percent (8%) per
annum or whatever is determined by the BOD.

In 2013, the BOD approved the increase in the Bank’s authorized capital stock from
P=50.00 million consisting of 490,000 common stocks and 10,000 preferred stocks to
P=250.00 million consisting of 2.00 million common stocks and 0.25 million preferred stocks, with
par values of P=100.00 and P=200.00, respectively.  The BSP approved the Bank’s application for
increase in authorized capital stock on November 18, 2014 and the Bank applied for the increase
in SEC.  The SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock on April 15, 2015.

During the last quarter of 2015, the Bank issued 49,138 preferred shares at par amounting to P=9.83
million.  In addition, the Bank received proceeds from subscriptions of common shares amounting
to P=26.70 million.

Application of DFS amounted to P=47.50 million and P=31.50 million in 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Dividends
On March 14, 2015, the BOD declared cash dividends of P5.00 per share to common stockholders.
These were approved by the BSP on June 19, 2015.  The cash dividend amounting to P=10.00
million were paid on July 27, 2015 to common stockholders of record as at March 31, 2015.

On August 8, 2015, the BOD declared another cash dividend of P8.00 per share to common
stockholders which were approved by the BSP on November 27, 2015.  The cash dividend
amounting to P=16.00 million were paid on December 16, 2015 to common stockholders of record
as at August 31, 2015.

Capital Management
The Bank’s capital management aims to ensure that it complies with regulatory capital
requirements and it maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support
and sustain its business growth towards maximizing the shareholders’ value.
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The Bank manages its capital structure and appropriately effect adjustment according to the
changes in economic conditions and the risk level it recognizes at every point of time in the course
of its business operations.

In order to maintain or adjust for good capital structure, the Bank carefully measures the amount
of dividend payment to shareholders, call payment due from the capital subscribers or issue capital
securities as necessary.  No changes were made on the capital management objectives, policies
and processes from previous years.

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with regulatory
requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s unimpaired capital (regulatory net
worth) reported to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory accounting policies, which
differ from PFRS in some aspects.

BSP Circular No. 688, Revised Risk-Based Capital Adequacy Framework for stand-alone thrift
banks, rural banks and cooperative banks which took effect on January 1, 2012 represents BSP’s
commitment to align existing prudential regulations with international standards, which is
consistent with the BSP’s goal of promoting the soundness and stability of individual banks and of
the banking system as a whole.  BSP Circular No. 688 replaced BSP Circular No. 280 which is
primarily based on Basel 1.

Under current banking regulations, the combined capital accounts of each bank should not be less
than an amount equal to ten percent (10.00%) of its risk assets.  The qualifying capital of the Bank
for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets ratio to total equity excludes:
· unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the BSP;
· total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, stakeholders and

related interests (DOSRI);
· deferred tax asset or liability; and
· other regulatory deductions.

Risk assets consist of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by
hold-out or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of credit to the extent
covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the Monetary Board of the
BSP.

Under BSP Circular No. 360, effective July 1, 2003, the risk-based capital adequacy ratio (CAR)
is to be inclusive of a market risk charge.  BSP Circular No. 560 dated January 31, 2007, which
took effect on February 22, 2007, requires the deduction of unsecured loans, other credit
accommodations and guarantees granted to subsidiaries and affiliates from capital accounts for
purposes of computing CAR.

On October 9, 2014, BSP issued the Circular No. 854, which states that rural banks with head
offices in areas outside the National Capital Region and with up to ten branches are required to
comply with the minimum capital requirement of P=30.00 million.  As at December 31, 2015 and
2014, the Bank is in compliance with the capitalization requirement.
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The CAR of the Bank as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, as reported to the BSP, is shown in the
table below (amounts in millions):

2015 2014
Tier 1 capital P=217.44 P=118.80
Tier 2 capital 9.39 4.77
Total qualifying capital P=226.83 P=123.57
Risk weighted assets P=1,027.79 P=571.78
Tier 1 capital ratio 21.16% 20.77%
Tier 2 capital ratio 0.91% 0.83%
Total CAR 22.07% 21.60%

The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business.  The
adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios
adopted by the BSP in supervising the Bank.

The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is determined also on the basis of
regulatory net worth after considering certain adjustments.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
the Bank was in compliance with CAR requirement.

Financial Performance
The following basic ratios measure the financial performance of the Bank:

2015 2014
Return on average equity 59.79% 72.75%
Return on average assets 10.85% 7.47%
Net interest margin 37.22% 35.36%

Covered banks and quasi-banks are enjoined to consider the forthcoming regulatory changes in
capital planning exercises and conduct preliminary assessments of the likely impact of the
changes.

16. Compensation and Benefits

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Salaries and wages P=32,953,308 P=19,897,971
Employee benefits 26,610,558 16,941,456
Retirement expense (Note 17) 2,349,275 4,071,087
Other short-term benefits 3,560,206 2,119,185

P=65,473,347 P=43,029,699

Other short term benefits pertain to the Bank’s share in contribution to employee’s SSS, and
health benefit plans.
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17. Retirement Plan

The Bank, CARD MRI Development Institute, Inc. (CMDI), CARD Mutual Benefit Association
(MBA), Inc., CARD Bank, Inc., CARD SME Bank, Inc. CARD MRI Insurance Agency
(CAMIA), Inc., CARD Business Development Service Foundation (BDSF), CMIT, CLFC,
BotiCARD, Inc., CARD, Inc., CARD Employees Multi-Purpose Cooperative (EMPC), and
Responsible Investments for Solidarity and Empowerment (RISE) maintain a funded and formal
noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan – the CARD MRI Multi-Employer Retirement
Plan (MERP) – covering all of their regular employees.  MERP has a projected unit cost format
and is financed solely by the Bank and its related parties.  MERP complies with the requirement of
Republic Act No. 7641 (Retirement Law).  MERP provided lump sum benefits equivalent to
120.00% of final salary for every year of credited service, a fraction of at least six (6) months
being considered as one whole year upon retirement, death, total and permanent disability, or early
retirement after completion of at least one year of service with the participating companies.

- 36 -
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Changes in retirement liability (asset) in 2015 and 2014 are as follow:

2015
Net benefit cost in statement of income* Remeasurements in other comprehensive income

January 1,
2015

Current
service cost Net interest Subtotal

Transfer to
the Plan

net of benefits
paid

Return on
plan assets
(excluding

amount
included in

net interest)

Actuarial
changes

arising from
changes in

the effect of
asset ceiling

Actuarial
changes arising

from changes
in demographic

assumptions

Actuarial
changes arising

from changes
in financial

assumptions Subtotal
Contribution
by employer

December 31,
2015

Present value of defined benefit
obligation P=25,073,762 P=2,812,216 P=1,118,290 P=3,930,506 P=1,986,301 P=7,541,502 P=– P=870,951 (P=3,346,821) P=5,065,632 P=– P=36,056,201

Fair value of plan assets (28,643,876) − (1,589,411) (1,589,411) (P=1,986,301) 756,491 – – – 756,491 (12,000,000) (43,463,097)

Asset ceiling 183,406 − 8,180 8,180 − – 312,336 − − 312,336 − 503,922

Net defined benefit liability (asset) (P=3,386,708) P=2,812,216 P=462,941 P=2,349,275 P=– P=8,297,993 P=312,336 P=870,951 (P=3,346,821) P=6,134,459 (P=12,000,000) (P=6,902,974)

2014
Net benefit cost in statement of income* Remeasurements in other comprehensive income

January 1,
2014

Current
service cost Net interest Subtotal

Transfer to
the Plan

net of benefits
paid

Return on
plan assets
(excluding

amount
included in

net interest)

Actuarial
changes

arising from
changes in

the effect of
asset ceiling

Actuarial
changes arising

from changes
in demographic

assumptions

Actuarial
changes arising

from changes
in financial

assumptions Subtotal
Contribution
by employer

December 31,
2014

Present value of defined benefit
obligation P=24,305,040 P=3,596,184 P=1,550,662 P=5,146,846 P=6,706,275 P=17,768,279 P=– (P=6,574,956) (P=22,277,722) (P=11,084,399) P=– P=25,073,762

Fair value of plan assets (8,699,470) − (1,075,759) (1,075,759) (6,706,275) (2,544,749) – – – (2,544,749) (9,617,623) (28,643,876)

Asset ceiling − − − − − – 183,406 − − 183,406 − 183,406

Net defined benefit liability (asset) P=15,605,570 P=3,596,184 P=474,903 P=4,071,087 P=– P=15,223,530 P=183,406 (P=6,574,956) (P=22,277,722) (P=13,445,742) (P=9,617,623) (P=3,386,708)

Net benefit cost is recognized under “Compensation and benefits” in the statements of income.
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The maximum economic benefit available is a combination of expected refunds from the plan and
reductions in future contributions.  The fair value of plan assets by each class as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 follows:

2015 2014
Cash and cash equivalents P=17,693,827 P=11,262,772
Debt instruments – government  bonds 19,866,982 13,138,946
Loans 4,589,703 3,173,741
Mutual fund 339,012 269,252
Other assets 973,573 799,165
Fair value of plan assets P=43,463,097 P=28,643,876

All plan assets do not have quoted prices in an active market except for government bonds.  Cash
and cash equivalents are with reputable financial institutions and related parties and are deemed to
be standard grade.  Mutual fund, loans and other assets are unrated.

The plan assets have diverse investments and do not have any concentration risk.

The cost of defined benefit retirement plan as well as the present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making
various assumptions.  The latest actuarial report is for the period ended December 31, 2015.  The
principal assumptions used in determining pension for the defined benefit plans are shown below:

2015 2014
Discount rate

January 1 4.46% 6.38%
December 31 4.86% 4.46%

Future salary increases 7.00% 7.00%

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period,
assuming all other assumptions were held constant:

2015 2014

Increase
(decrease) in
basis points

Increase
(decrease) in

present value
of obligation

Increase
(decrease) in
basis points

Increase
(decrease) in
present value
of obligation

Discount rates +100 (P=7,019,317) +100 (P=5,051,187)
-100 9,061,438 -100 6,578,526

Future salary increases +100 8,371,596 +100 6,058,901
-100 (6,695,242) -100 (4,808,817)

The Bank expects to contribute P=12.50 million to the defined benefit retirement plan in 2016.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 26.4 years and 27.1 years as at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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The management performed an Asset-Liability Matching Study annually.  The overall investment
policy and strategy of the Bank’s defined benefit plans is guided by the objective of achieving an
investment return which, together with contributions, ensures that there will be sufficient assets to
pay pension benefits as they fall due while also mitigating the various risk of the plans.

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

2015 2014
More than 5 years to 10 years P=5,129,526 P=5,170,841
More than 10 years to 15 years 9,020,236 –
More than 15 years to 20 years 33,913,559 11,086,089
More than 20 years to 25 years 141,399,397 55,045,592
More than 25 years 2,381,906,703 672,899,056

18. Leases

Office spaces
The Bank leases the premises occupied by some of its branches in which lease payments are
subjected to escalation clauses from 10.00% to 15.00% starting on the 3rd year of lease.  The lease
contracts are for the periods ranging from one to five years and are renewable upon mutual
agreement between the Bank and the lessors.

Rent expense amounted to P=7.72 million and P=3.37 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Future minimum rental lease payments on operating leases of the Bank are as follows:

2015 2014
Within one year P=7,037,940 P=5,569,106
Beyond one year but not beyond five years 9,405,899 10,787,106

P=16,443,839 P=16,356,212

Transportation and IT equipment
The Bank leases the transportation and IT equipment from CLFC.  The lease contracts have a term
of 18 months.

Lease for transportation equipment recorded under ‘Transportation and travel’ in 2015 and 2014
amounted to P=1.62 million and P=1.36 million, respectively.  Lease for IT equipment booked under
‘IT expense’ amounted to P=0.78 million in 2015 and P=0.27 million in 2014.

Future minimum rental lease payments on the operating leases of the Bank are as follows:

2015 2014
Within one year P=2,368,219 P=1,492,847
Beyond one year but not beyond five years 692,701 361,870

P=3,060,920 P=1,854,717
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19. Miscellaneous Expenses

This account consists of:

2015 2014
Program and monitoring P=802,914 P=722,893
Postage, telephone, cables and telegrams 789,127 336,905
Repairs and maintenance 684,034 579,193
Representation and entertainment 343,642 207,287
Advertising and publicity 196,916 161,416
Loss on retirement of property and equipment 177,781 −
Loss on sale of investment property 90,160 −
Other expenses 1,280,629 700,717

P=4,365,203 P=2,708,411

Other expenses include various expenses such as bank charges, office supplies, stamps, awards to
top performing branches and expenditures related to the opening of the new branch.

20. Income Taxes

Under Philippine tax laws, the Bank is subject to percentage and other taxes presented as ‘Taxes
and licenses’ in the statements of income as well as income taxes.  Percentage and other taxes paid
consist principally of gross receipts tax and documentary stamp taxes.

Income taxes also include RCIT, as discussed below and final taxes paid at the rate of 20.00%,
which is a final withholding tax on gross interest income from government securities and other
deposit substitutes.

Republic Act No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the
RCIT rate shall be 30.00%, and deductible interest expense shall be reduced by 33.00% of interest
income subjected to final tax.  Current tax regulations also provide for MCIT of 2.00% on
modified gross income and allow a NOLCO.  The MCIT and NOLCO may be applied against the
Bank’s income tax liability and taxable income, respectively, over a three-year period from the
year of inception.  Further, current tax regulations set a limit for entertainment, amusement and
recreation (EAR) expenses that can be deducted for income tax purposes.  EAR expenses are
limited to 1.00% of net revenue for sellers of services.  The Bank recorded EAR expenses
amounted to P=0.34 million and P=0.21 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. EAR expenses are
presented under ‘Miscellaneous expenses’ in the statements of income.

Provision for income tax consists of:

2015 2014
Current:

RCIT P=41,317,617 P=15,716,410
Final tax 390,020 124,495

41,707,637 15,840,905
Deferred (1,979,664) (572,136)

P=39,727,973 P=15,268,769
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As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, net deferred tax assets are as follows:

2015 2014
Deferred tax assets

Allowance for credit and impairment losses P=5,255,191 P=2,033,022
Unamortized past service cost 2,583,281 128,224
Accumulated vacation leave credits – 864,630

7,838,472 3,025,876
Deferred tax liabilities

Retirement asset 2,070,892 1,016,012
Gain on foreclosure of investment property – 62,286

2,070,892 1,078,298
P=5,767,580 P=1,947,578

Deferred tax recognized in OCI amounted to a benefit of P=1.84 million and provision of
P=4.03 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The reconciliation between the statutory income tax and effective income tax follow:

2015 2014
Statutory income tax P=39,740,860 P=14,411,331
Income tax effects of:

Interest income subject to final tax (234,949) (72,820)
Nondeductible expenses 222,062 930,258

Provision for income tax P=39,727,973 P=15,268,769

21. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions.  Entities are considered to be related if they are subjected under common control or
significant influence.  The Bank’s related parties include:

· key management personnel, close family members of key management personnel and entities
which are controlled, significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power is held
by key management personnel or their close family members,

· post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of the Bank’s employees, and
· other related parties within the CARD-MRI Group.

The Bank has several business relationships with related parties.  Transactions with such parties
are made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially same terms, including interest and
collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other parties.  These
transactions also did not involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present other
unfavorable conditions.

Transactions with Retirement Plans
Under PFRS, certain post-employment benefit plans are considered as related parties.  CARD
MRI’s MERP is managed by the CARD EMPC.  The plan assets are invested in time deposits and
special savings accounts and government bonds (Note 17).  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
the retirement funds do not hold or trade the Bank’s shares of stock.
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Remunerations of Key Management Personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly.  The Bank considers the
members of the senior management to constitute key management personnel for purposes of
PAS 24.

The compensation of key management personnel included under ‘Compensation and benefits’ in
the statement of income are as follows:

2015 2014
Short-term employee benefits P=797,425 P=578,122
Post-employment benefits 430,111 209,543

P=1,227,536 P=787,665

The Bank also provides banking services to directors and other key management personnel and
persons connected to them.  These transactions are presented in the tables that follow.

Other Related Party Transactions
Transactions between the Bank and its key management personnel meet the definition of related
party transactions.  Transactions between the Bank and related parties within the CARD-MRI, also
qualify as related party transactions.

Loans receivables
As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank has no outstanding loan that was granted to related
parties.

Deposit liabilities, accounts receivable and accounts payable
Deposit liabilities, accounts receivable and accounts payable held by the Bank for key
management personnel, shareholder and other related parties as at December 31, 2015 and 2014
follow:

December 31, 2015

Category
Amount /

Volume
Outstanding

Balance Nature, Terms and Conditions
Key management

personnel
Deposit liabilities P=674,653 Consists of regular savings deposit account at an annual interest

rate from 1.50% to 2.00%.Deposits P=5,246,165
Withdrawals 4,830,699

Interest expense 4,416 Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.
Shareholders
Deposit liabilities 25,300,765 Consists of regular savings deposit account which bears an

annual interest rate of 1.5% and special savings deposit
earning at annual rates of 2.75% to 4.75%.

Deposits 33,289,988
Withdrawals 8,320,875

Accounts receivable 30,000 Pertains to share of various expenses of shareholders that are
still payable to the Bank.Billings 1,265,828

Collection 1,491,483
Accounts payable – Pertains to share on various expenses.

Billings 96,584
Payment 96,960

Interest expense 10,493 Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.
Affiliates*
Deposit liabilities 20,499,725 These are checking, savings and special savings deposit

accounts with annual interest rate ranging from 1.50% to
4.50%.

Deposits 321,557,499
Withdrawal 307,113,115

(Forward)
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December 31, 2015

Category
Amount /

Volume
Outstanding

Balance Nature, Terms and Conditions

Accounts receivable P= P=3,333 Training fees, seminars and meetings, and share of expenses
shouldered by the Bank.Billings 117,154

Collections 125,068
Accounts payable – Insurance premiums from members collected on behalf of

CARD MBA and payments to CLFC for operating lease
agreement (Note 18).

Billings 85,799,881
Payments 86,354,506

Interest expense 5,102,188 Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.

*Includes CARD MRI Development Institute, Inc., CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation, CARD Mutual Benefit Association and
CARD MRI Insurance Agency and Mga Likha ni Inay, Inc.

December 31, 2014

Category Amount / Volume
Outstanding

Balance Nature, Terms and Conditions
Key management

personnel
Deposit liabilities P=259,187 Consists of regular savings deposit account which bears an

annual interest rate of 1.5% and special savings deposit
earning at annual rates of 2% to 3%.

Deposits P=15,442,931
Withdrawals 15,198,761

Interest expense 49,353  Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.
Shareholders
Deposit liabilities 331,652 Consists of regular savings deposit account which bears an

annual interest rate of 1.5% and special savings deposit
earning at annual rates of 2% to 2.75%.

Deposits 12,294,181
Withdrawals 24,812,858

Accounts receivable 255,655 Share on expenses of transferred staff between the CARD-MRI
entities.Billings 1,277,869

Collection 2,169,206
Accounts payable 376 Pertains to share on various expenses.

Billings 1,287,115
Payment 1,332,753

Interest expense 4,568  Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.
Affiliates*
Deposit liabilities 6,055,341 These are checking, savings and special savings deposit

accounts with annual interest rate ranging from 1.50% to
4.50%.

Deposits 380,860,668
Withdrawal 271,933,778

Accounts receivable 11,247 Pertains to refund to resigned members net of collection of loan
redemption fund and provident and life insurance
contributions on behalf of CARD MBA.

Billings 11,247
Collections 43,180

Accounts payable 554,625 Rent, supplies, training fees, seminars, and share of expenses
shouldered by the affiliates.Billings 26,681,170

Payments 26,128,702
Interest expense 3,672,473  Pertains to interest on deposit liabilities.

*Includes CARD MRI Development Institute, Inc., CARD Leasing and Finance Corporation, CARD Mutual Benefit Association and
CARD MRI Insurance Agency and Mga Likha ni Inay, Inc.

Regulatory Reporting
As required by BSP, the Bank discloses loan transactions with investees and with certain directors,
officers, stockholders and related interests (DOSRI).  Existing banking regulations limit the
amount of individual loans to DOSRI, 70.00% of which must be secured, to the total of their
respective deposits and book value of their respective investments in the lending company within
the Bank.

In the aggregate, loans to DOSRI generally should not exceed total equity or 15.00% of total loan
portfolio, whichever is lower.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank is in compliance with
the regulatory requirements.
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BSP Circular No. 423 dated March 15, 2004 amended the definition of DOSRI accounts.  On
October 8, 2010, BSP Circular No. 695 is issued to provide guidance on the definition of Related
Interest.

There are no outstanding DOSRI accounts as at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

22. Notes to Statements of Cash Flows

The following is the summary of noncash activities in 2015 and 2014:

2015 2014
Noncash financing activities:

Application of deposit for future subscription to
issued shares 47,500,000 31,500,000

23. Approval for the Release of Financial Statements

The BOD of the Bank has reviewed and approved the release of the accompanying financial
statements on March 12, 2016.

24. Supplementary Information Required under RR 15-2010

On November 25, 2010, the BIR issued RR 15-2010 prescribing the manner of compliance in
connection with the preparation and submission of financial statements accompanying the tax
returns.  It includes provisions for additional disclosure requirements in the notes to the financial
statements, particularly on taxes and licenses paid or accrued during the year.  The components of
‘Taxes and licenses’ recognized in the statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2015,
follow:

Gross receipt tax (GRT) P=15,586,099
Documentary stamp taxes 1,230,800
Business permits and licenses 1,019,386
Real property tax 55,919

P=17,892,204

GRT in 2015 consists of taxes on:

Interest income on loans P=15,417,122
Other income 168,977

P=15,586,099
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Withholding taxes in 2015 are categorized into:

Paid:
Final withholding tax on interest expense P=3,346,609
Withholding taxes on compensation and benefits 2,181,362
Expanded withholding tax 951,267

6,479,238

Accrued:
Expanded withholding tax 480,316
Final withholding tax on interest expense and dividends declared 236,739

717,055
P=7,196,293

Tax Assessments and Cases
As at December 31, 2015, the Company has no outstanding final assessment notice from the BIR
or cases in court or bodies outside the BIR.
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